Hospital-based specialist palliative care compared with usual care for adults with advanced illness and their caregivers: a systematic review

Adejoke O Oluyase,¹ Irene J Higginson,¹ Deokhee Yi,¹ Wei Gao,¹ Catherine J Evans,¹ Gunn Grande,^{2,3} Chris Todd,^{2,3,4} Massimo Costantini,⁵ Fliss EM Murtagh^{1,6} and Sabrina Bajwah^{1*}

Declared competing interests of authors: Chris Todd reports grants from the National Institute for Health Research Health Services and Delivery Research board during the conduct of the review.

Published May 2021 DOI: 10.3310/hsdr09120

Plain English summary

Hospital-based specialist palliative care vs. usual care Health Services and Delivery Research 2021; Vol. 9: No. 12 DOI: 10.3310/hsdr09120

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

¹Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care, Policy & Rehabilitation, King's College London, London, UK

²School of Health Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

³Manchester Academic Health Science Centre, Manchester, UK

⁴Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust, Manchester, UK

⁵Palliative Care Unit, Azienda Unità Sanitaria Locale – Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico (USL-IRCCS), Reggio Emilia, Italy

⁶Wolfson Palliative Care Research Centre, Hull York Medical School, University of Hull, Hull, UK

^{*}Corresponding author sabrina.bajwah@kcl.ac.uk

Plain English summary

A lthough most people prefer to die at home, most deaths still occur in hospital. Hospital-based specialist palliative care involves the provision of palliative care services by specialist palliative care providers to people while admitted as inpatients to acute care hospitals, as outpatients or as patients receiving care from hospital outreach teams at home. Usual care could be inpatient or outpatient hospital care without specialist palliative care input at the point of entry to the study, or community care or hospice care provided outside the hospital setting. Hospital-based specialist palliative care is a growing area. However, it is unclear what components and models of hospital-based specialist palliative care work best. The need for clarity on these important features, as well as effective use of resources, has been raised. Consequently, this systematic review was carried out to address these areas.

We identified and studied all the key data from relevant randomised controlled trials. We included 42 randomised controlled trials with 7779 participants (6678 patients and 1101 caregivers). Twenty-one studies involved patients with cancer, 14 studies involved patients with other advanced illness (non-cancer) and seven involved patients who had a combination of cancer and non-cancer diagnoses (mixed diagnoses).

Results showed that hospital-based specialist palliative care may improve patient health-related quality of life, symptom burden and depression, while improving satisfaction with care and helping patients die where they want (measured by home death). Interviews exploring views and experiences of hospital-based specialist palliative care suggest that hospital-based specialist palliative care may be beneficial because it ensures personalised and holistic care for patients and their families, while also fostering open communication and shared decision-making, with respectful and compassionate care. There was no evidence that hospital-based specialist palliative care caused serious harm or cost more than usual care.

Further research is needed to look at the effectiveness of hospital-based specialist palliative care for caregivers, those with non-cancer diagnoses and whether it is more economical than usual care.

Health Services and Delivery Research

ISSN 2050-4349 (Print)

ISSN 2050-4357 (Online)

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full HS&DR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr. Print-on-demand copies can be purchased from the report pages of the NIHR Journals Library website: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Criteria for inclusion in the Health Services and Delivery Research journal

Reports are published in *Health Services and Delivery Research* (HS&DR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HS&DR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

HS&DR programme

The HS&DR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HS&DR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-services-and-delivery-research.htm

This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HS&DR programme or one of its preceding programmes as project number 16/02/17. The contractual start date was in May 2017. The final report began editorial review in January 2019 and was accepted for publication in November 2020. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HS&DR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the final report document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the HS&DR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the HS&DR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

Copyright © 2021 Oluyase et al. This work was produced by Oluyase et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaption in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk).

NIHR Journals Library Editor-in-Chief

Professor Ken Stein Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

NIHR Journals Library Editors

Professor John Powell Chair of HTA and EME Editorial Board and Editor-in-Chief of HTA and EME journals. Consultant Clinical Adviser, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), UK, and Professor of Digital Health Care, Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences, University of Oxford, UK

Professor Andrée Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals) and Editor-in-Chief of HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals

Professor Matthias Beck Professor of Management, Cork University Business School, Department of Management and Marketing, University College Cork, Ireland

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Eugenia Cronin Senior Scientific Advisor, Wessex Institute, UK

Dr Peter Davidson Consultant Advisor, Wessex Institute, University of Southampton, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Senior Scientific Adviser (Evidence Use), Wessex Institute, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Catriona McDaid Senior Research Fellow, York Trials Unit, Department of Health Sciences, University of York, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Emeritus Professor of Wellbeing Research, University of Winchester, UK

Professor James Raftery Professor of Health Technology Assessment, Wessex Institute, Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Reviews Manager, Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professor of Child Health Research, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health, UK

Professor Jonathan Ross Professor of Sexual Health and HIV, University Hospital Birmingham, UK

Professor Helen Snooks Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

Professor Ken Stein Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

Professor Jim Thornton Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Nottingham, UK

Please visit the website for a list of editors: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk